
FILED 

Court ,of Appeals 

Division I 

State of Washington 

12J,6J2023 1 :03 PM 
SUPREME COURT NO. ---

NO. 83018-0-I 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

V. 

TERRANCE IRBY, 

Petitioner. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE 
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY 

_ The Honorable Dave Needy, Judge 
The Honorable Brian L. Stiles, Judge 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 

DAVID B. KOCH 
Attorney for Petitioner 

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 
2200 6TH Ave., Suite 1250 

Seattle, WA 98121 
(206) 623-2373

102620-0



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER ......................................... 1 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION ................................ 1 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW ........................... 1 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE ......................................... 2 

1. Prior Trials And Appeals ............................................. 2 

2. Evidentiary Hearing/Trial ........................................... 4 

3. Court of Appeals ....................................................... 13 

E. ARGUMENT ................................................................. 16 

THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION CONFLICTS 
WITH CORY AND PENA FUENTES ......................... 16 

F. CONCLUSION .............................................................. 27 

-1-



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 
Page 

WASHINGTON CASES 

State v. Baker 
78 Wn.2d 327, 474 P.2d 254 (1970) ........................................ 26 

State Cory 
62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963) 1, 10, 13, 16-19, 22, 25-27 

State v. Irby 
170 Wn.2d 874, 246 P.3d 796 (2011) .......................................... 2 

State v. Irby 
187 Wn. App. 183, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015) 
review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1036, 379 P.3d 953 (2016) ................ 2 

State v. Irby 
3 Wn. App. 2d 247, 415 P.3d 611 (2018) ..................... ........... 3, 4 

State v. Myers 
_ Wn. App. 2d _, 533 P .3d 451 (2023) ...................... 22, 25 

State v. Pefia Fuentes 
179 Wn.2d 808, 318 P.3d 257 (2014) . 1, 4, 13, 16, 19-23, 25-27 

FEDERAL CASES 

Geders v. United States 
425 U.S. 80, 91. 96 S. Ct. 1330, 47 L. Ed. 2d 592 (1976) ....... 17 

Glasser v. United States 
315 U.S. 60, 62 S. Ct. 457, 86 L. Ed. 680 (1942) ..... . . ............. 18 

-11-



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) 

Page 
United States v. Morrison 
449 U.S. 361, 101 S. Ct. 665, 66 L. Ed. 2d 564 (1981) ....... 24, 25 

Weatherford v. Bursey 
429 U.S. 545, 97 S. Ct. 837, 51 L. Ed. 2d 30 (1977) ......... 20, 23 

RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES 

CrR 8.3 .............................................................................. 3, 7, 13 

RAP 13.4 .................................. ............................................ 1, 27 

U.S. CONST. amend. VI ........... 1, 3, 5, 13-17, 20, 22-24, 26, 27 

-111-



A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Terrance Irby, the appellant below, asks this Court to 

review his case. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Irby requests review of the Court of Appeals 

decision in State v. Irby. COA No. 83018-0-I, filed November 

6, 2023, and attached as an appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the inability to fully define and assess the 

prejudice resulting from repeated and serious violations of 

petitioner's constitutional right to confer privately with counsel 

requires dismissal of the charges against him under the Sixth 

Amendment, State Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963), 

and State v. Pefia Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808,318 P.3d 257 (2014)? 

2. Whether review is appropriate under RAP 

13.4(b)(l )  because the Court of Appeals decision declining 

dismissal conflicts with Cory and Pefia Fuentes, significantly 

retreating from both? 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Prior Trials And Appeals 

This is the fourth appeal in Skagit County's prosecution of 

Terrance Irby for his alleged involvement in the 2005 murder of 

James Rock. 

In 2011, this Court reversed Irby's convictions for 

aggravated murder in the first degree, felony murder in the first 

degree, and burglary in the first degree based on a violation of his 

right to be present at trial. State v. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 246 

P.3d 796 (2011). 

In 2015, following retrial and conviction on the same 

charges, his convictions were reversed again based on the seating 

of a clearly biased juror. State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. 183, 347 

P.3d 1103 (2015), review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1036, 379 P.3d 953 

(2016). 

In 2016, while Irby was held in the Skagit County Jail 

awaiting a third trial, fellow inmates alerted him that jail deputies 

were opening and reading private kites intended for his attorney, 

-2-



Jennifer Rancourt. CP 867; RP (6/10/16) 102. Irby filed a CrR 

8.3(b) motion to dismiss the charges and requested an evidentiary 

hearing, where witnesses could be examined to determine what 

confidential information was learned and shared with the 

prosecution team. CP 866-898, 936-955; Pretrial exhibit 33, at 

125-126, 175-178. Irby's request for a hearing and his motion 

were denied. Exhibit 33, at 184-187, 191-192. 

Following a third trial and convictions, Irby appealed the 

denial of his CrR 8.3(b) motion in the absence of an evidentiary 

hearing. Based solely on the limited record before it, the Court of 

Appeals found that Skagit County Jail guards had repeatedly 

engaged in misconduct, violating Irby's Sixth Amendment rights 

by opening and reading privileged communications intended only 

for Rancourt. State v. Irby, 3 Wn. App. 2d 247, 249-256, 415 

P.3d 611 (2018). Agreeing with Irby that the absence of a 

complete and clear understanding of what happened was 

problematic, the Court of Appeals remanded for the evidentiary 
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hearing Irby sought. Id. 263 ( citing Pefia Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 

808). 

A primary deficiency in the record was the failure to 

account for certain individuals who may have learned 

information gleaned from Irby's confidential letters and, for 

example, used it to investigate further or passed it to case 

investigators or other members of the prosecution team. Irby, 3 

Wn. App. at 260-262. The Court of Appeals also wanted to 

know "the degree of nefariousness of the conduct by the State 

actor[s]." Id. at 253. The Court ordered the trial court to 

"marshal all of the evidence and determine whether the State's 

evidence has overcome the presumption of prejudice and 

established the absence of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt." 

Id. at 263. In the absence of such a showing, the trial court was 

to fashion a suitable remedy, including the possibility of 

dismissing the charges. Id. at 264-265. 

2. Evidentiary Hearing/Trial 

The evidentiary hearing revealed the scope of the Sixth 
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Amendment violations to be far broader than anyone suspected. 

This was a system-wide failure to safeguard attorney/client 

information, involving potentially hundreds of known and 

unknown individuals with access to that information. The full 

extent of the violations is thoroughly discussed in Mr. Irby's 

opening brief. See Appellant's Opening Brief, at 11-43. For this 

petition, a short summary should suffice. 

Irby was a "prolific" kite writer and used kite forms for his 

confidential communications with Rancourt. RP (11/9/18) 48-50; 

RP (11/20/18) 132. Irby folded the forms, taped them shut, and 

wrote on the exterior to notify jail deputies their content was 

confidential and intended solely for Rancourt. Pretrial exhibits 

1-7; CP 304, 328, 332, 340, 344, 348; RP (11/9/18) 49-51. 

These kites contained private discussions of trial defenses, 

potential defense witnesses, and strategies for obtaining 

acquittals. See Pretrial exhibits 1-8, 13, 41, 44; see also 

Appellant's Opening Brief, at 12-15 (summarizing 

communications). 
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Despite Irby's efforts to keep his communications 

confidential, evidence revealed that every kite and written 

communication Irby placed in the jail system - regardless of 

confidentiality warnings on the outside - was likely opened as a 

matter of jail policy. RP (11/20/18) 103-105, 159-166. This 

included 25 kites Rancourt estimated she had received from 

Irby. RP (11/9/18) 53. And it included an unknown number of 

kites Irby placed in the jail system that were apparently never 

delivered to Rancourt, resulting in an accusation from Irby that 

Rancourt was lying about not receiving them. RP (11/9/18) 56-

60, 63. 

Indeed, the jail's system for handling kites ensured Irby's 

private communications to his attorney would not remain 

confidential. After collecting kites, jail deputies opened them 

and routinely left them "sitting around" the booking desk, 

sometimes for most of the day, before processing them. RP 

(11/20/18) 110-112, 149-152, 157, 162-165, 172-177. Anyone 

with business at that desk - including jail staff, visiting 
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prosecutors, and sheriffs deputies with prisoners - had access 

to Irby's opened kites as they sat and awaited processing. They 

could be read and they could be removed. RP (11/20/18) 146; 

RP (12/4/18) 249-252. The sergeant overseeing administrative 

matters at the jail could not even say if all kites Irby intended 

for Rancourt were ever delivered to her. He had not been asked 

to investigate that matter and had not done so. RP (11/20/18) 

105, 119-120. 

The State's initial reaction to Irby's CrR 8.3(b) motion 

was to candidly concede it was "almost impossible" to 

determine which jail deputy had opened which private kites and 

"[t]he only way [to] affirmatively establish that the claimed 

violation was not intentional and that it was not shared, would 

be to call every jailer who may have been working at the time . .  

. . " CP 901. And although the Court of Appeals order on 

remand was to "marshal all of the evidence," prosecutors took a 

very different approach at the evidentiary hearing. Instead of 

calling all necessary witnesses to overcome presumed 
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prejudice, prosecutors presented what they considered a 

"representative sample" of those involved in opening Irby's 

confidential communications, investigating the charges, and 

prosecuting his case. 

For example, of the 41 jail deputies who worked shifts in 

March and April of 2016 when privileged communications 

were opened and viewed, the State chose to call just six. 

Exhibit 22; CP 535-537; RP (11/20/18) 95, 142, 155, 168, 181; 

RP (12/4/18) 244. It would have been seven, but another jail 

deputy prosecutors suspected of opening Irby's legal mail 

(Deputy Drozdowski) was permitted by the State to absent 

herself from the hearing because she had "a bitter departure 

from Skagit County Government," she had ignored multiple 

subpoenas, and the prosecutor "had already heard the testimony 

of the other corrections deputies that had testified." RP 

(12/12/18) 60. 

Another of the 35 relevant jail deputies that prosecutors 

chose not to call was Deputy Jared Couch - despite the fact 
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four inmates witnessed him opening Irby' s confidential mail. 

CP 1068-1069, 1072; RP (12/12/18) 60; pretrial exhibit 33, at 

129. And although prosecutors had the names of those four 

inmates and knew how to find them, they chose not to call 

them, either. CP 867, 1068-1069, 1071-1072, 1077, 1080; RP 

(6/10/16) 102, 107. 

Not surprisingly, even after hearing from the six jail 

deputies, the State conceded there still was "not a clear picture 

who in the jail could have potentially seen the kite[s] at issue . .  

. . " RP (12/12/18) 61. 

The State's failure to marshal all relevant evidence was 

not, however, limited to jail witnesses. The State failed to call 

several Skagit County Sheriff's Deputies who investigated 

Irby's case. RP (11/20/18) 197, 213-214; CP 539. The State 

also failed to call two attorneys from the Skagit County 

Prosecutor's Office involved in prosecuting Irby: longtime 

Skagit County Prosecutor Richard W eyrich and Skagit County 

Deputy Prosecutor Branden Platter, who first appeared in the 
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case after the Court of Appeals' remand order. CP 539; RP 

(1/22/21) 225; RP (6/4/21) 1370. 

After the State presented its selected witnesses, Irby 

argued the jail's mishandling of his confidential 

communications had exposed his tactics and theories to anyone 

with business at the jail - including law enforcement officers 

and prosecutors - who were free to peruse his private letters or 

simply take them. RP (12/12/17) 76, 78, 88-89. Their 

mishandling of his communications also destroyed his 

relationship with Rancourt, causing him - at the time - to label 

her claim that she was not receiving his letters from jail "a 

blatant lie." RP (12/12/18) 79-81. Citing State v. Cory, Irby 

argued the State's incomplete presentation simply made it 

impossible to isolate the effects of the jail's opening, reviewing, 

and handling of his communications with his lawyer. 

Therefore, dismissal of the criminal charges was necessary. RP 

(12/12/18) 93-94. 

The Honorable Dave Needy denied Irby's motion to 
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dismiss. While acknowledging that many jail deputies had not 

been called as witnesses, based on the handful the State did call, 

he did not find an intentional process of intercepting private 

communications and passing on the information. RP (12/12/18) 

100-101. Judge Needy also found that it remained unknown 

which of Irby's kites were ever delivered to Rancourt, 

ultimately concluding, "It is unclear whether the kites 

containing the confidential attorney client communications 

were delivered to his attorney." RP (12/12/18) 100; CP 209. 

But based on the incomplete evidence presented, he found the 

prosecution did not use information gained from the kites to 

Irby's disadvantage. RP (12/12/18) 101. He did, however, 

order another trial, finding that the mishandling of the kites 

triggered the misunderstanding between Irby and Rancourt that 

resulted in Irby deciding to fire her, forego counsel, and not 

participate at trial. RP (12/12/18) 102-104; see also CP 708-

712 (written order). 

Because the State had failed to call all relevant witnesses 
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from the investigative branch of the Sheriffs Office, Judge 

Needy indicated each such deputy sheriff that the State chose to 

call as a witness at the new trial could testify under oath and 

outside the jury's presence "as a possible safety net to make sure 

that we haven't included someone who did learn something that 

we didn't find out about through this hearing before they testify 

at trial." RP (12/12/18) 105-106. There were four such witnesses 

- Deputy Craig Mullen, retired Chief Criminal Deputy Will 

Reicherdt, Deputy Terry Eskew, and retired Detective Ken 

Tiscomia. See RP (6/7/21) 1570; RP (6/7/21) 1646; RP (6/8/21) 

1760; RP (6/9/21) 1942. Despite their presence at trial, and 

Judge Needy's offer, prosecutors still did not bother questioning 

any of them outside the jury's presence to determine if they had 

gained information from Irby's private communications. 

Jurors convicted Irby of murder and burglary, and he 

appealed again. CP 782-783, 864-865. 
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3. Court of Appeals 

On appeal, Irby maintained his argument that, without 

calling all relevant witnesses at the evidentiary hearing, the 

State had failed to meet its burden to establish the Sixth 

Amendment violations harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Even after the evidentiary hearing, it remained impossible to 

determine precisely what was viewed, what was removed from 

the jail system, what remained unaccounted for, what 

information was shared with investigating deputies and 

prosecutors, or the degree of nefariousness of everyone 

involved. See Brief of Appellant, at 61-91; Reply Brief, at 1-

18. 

Irby also challenged many of Judge Needy's CrR 8.3(b) 

findings and conclusions, again pointing out the obvious: they 

were based on significantly incomplete evidence. Brief of 

Appellant, at 87-90. 

Ultimately, Irby's argument was a simple one. Citing 

this Court's decisions in Cory and Peiia Fuentes, he argued the 
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State's continued failure to prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

that he suffered no prejudice from the violations of his Sixth 

Amendment rights - at any past, current, or future trial -

required dismissal of the charges against him. Brief of 

Appellant, at 61-67, 90-91; Reply Brief, at 1-2, 17-18. 

The Court of Appeals acknowledged the still glaring 

deficiencies in the record created by the State. Referring to the 

fact prosecutors called only six jail deputies, the Court said, 

"The testimony of these jail guards thus could not eliminate the 

possibility that other guards could have forwarded content from 

Irby's communications." Slip Op., at 6. Moreover, it remained 

"unclear whether Irby's kites containing . . . confidential 

communications were delivered to his attorney." Slip Op., at 

11. 

Regarding sheriffs deputies who investigated the case 

and prosecutors who tried it, the Court of Appeals recognized, 

"The State did not rule out absolutely the possibility of an 

undisclosed, illicit channel from a jail guard to a detective or 
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member of the prosecution team." Slip Op., at 29. The Court 

noted that "the State did not call all of the sheriffs department 

investigators assigned to Irby's case nor all of those who would 

go on to testify at his fourth trial." Slip Op., at 8. The Court 

also noted that, despite Judge Needy's offer, the State did not 

examine Deputy Mullen, retired Chief Deputy Reicherdt, 

Detective Eskew, or retired Detective Tiscomia at trial, outside 

the jury's presence, to ensure no confidential information had 

been provided to them. 1 Slip Op., at 13. 

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals recognized, "This is an 

egregious case of misconduct. The laxity of the jail shown here 

is indefensible under our constitutional principles." Slip Op., at 

29. It also correctly found "[t]he State's decision not to call 

many of the witnesses is significant" and that, even after 

Oddly, however, although the State was the only party 
under the Sixth Amendment with the burden to prove 
harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt, the Court also 
suggested Irby could have accepted Judge Needy's offer and 
examined these witnesses but did not, leaving only a 
"theoretical information channel" to these sheriffs deputies. 
Slip Op., at 13, 28. 
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providing what was supposed to be a comprehensive 

evidentiary hearing, "prejudice was not fully disproved." Slip 

Op., at 18, 23. Despite this, however, as discussed more 

thoroughly below, the Court of Appeals found that QQIT and 

Pefia Fuentes did not require dismissal of the charges and that 

merely ordering a new trial with new counsel had provided a 

sufficient remedy for the violations of Irby's Sixth Amendment 

rights. Slip Op., at 17-30. 

Irby now seeks this Court's review. 

E. ARGUMENT 

THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION CONFLICTS 
WITH CORY AND PENA FUENTES. 

"The Sixth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant 

the right to assistance of counsel, which includes the right to 

confer privately with counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI.2 State 

intrusion into those private conversations is a blatant violation 

of a foundational right." State v. Pefia Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808, 
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811, 318 P.3d 257 (2014); see also Geders v. United States, 425 

U.S. 80, 91. 96 S. Ct. 1330, 47 L. Ed. 2d 592 (1976) (the Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel encompasses the right to confer 

with one's lawyer without interference). 

There is no dispute that Skagit County Sheriffs Deputies 

repeatedly violated Irby's Sixth Amendment rights by opening 

private communications intended solely for his attorney. The 

issue is whether merely ordering another trial could sufficiently 

remedy these violations where the State failed to call all 

relevant witnesses at the evidentiary hearing, leaving significant 

unanswered questions concerning what was learned and what 

was .done with Irby's confidential information. 

This Court has twice addressed the issue of remedy in 

similar situations. 

In State v. Cory, 62 Wn.2d at 372, sheriffs deputies 

eavesdropped on several conversations between the defendant 

and his attorney in a room provided for legal consultations. 

2 "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the 
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Deputies had placed a microphone in the conference room and 

recorded the conversations at issue. Id. After stressing the 

importance of strict confidentiality between counsel and client 

to ensure a "full and complete investigation of both the facts 

and law," id. at 374, the Cory Court turned to remedy, 

observing, "'The right to have the assistance of counsel is too 

fundamental and absolute to indulge in nice calculations as to 

the amount of prejudice resulting from its denial."' Id. at 376 

(quoting Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 76, 62 S. Ct. 

457, 86 L. Ed. 680 (1942)). 

In finding the mere granting of another trial inadequate, 

the Cory Court said: 

There is no way to isolate the prejudice resulting 
from an eavesdropping activity, such as this. If the 
prosecution gained information which aided it in 
the preparation of its case, that information would 
be as available in the second trial as in the first. If 
the defendant's right to private consultation has 
been interfered with once, that interference is as 
applicable to a second trial as to the first. And if 
the investigating officers and the prosecution know 
that the most severe consequence which can follow 

right .. . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." 
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from their violation of one of the most valuable 
rights of a defendant, is that they will have to try 
the case twice, it can hardly be supposed that they 
will be seriously deterred from indulging in this 
very simple and convenient method of obtaining 
evidence and knowledge of the defendant's trial 
strategy. 

Id. at 377 (footnote omitted). 

This Court noted that Cory had no way of knowing what 

confidential information had been shared with others. Id. at 

377 n.3. However, because the sheriff's office had both "the 

opportunity and the motive," the Supreme Court assumed -

without definitive proof - information gained by the sheriff's 

deputies had been passed on to someone in the prosecutor's 

office. Id. To "effectively discourage the odious practice of 

eavesdropping on privileged communication between attorney 

and client," this Court held that the constitutional violation 

"vitiates the whole proceeding. The judgment and sentence 

must be set aside and the charges dismissed." Id. at 378. 

Fifty years later, in Pefia Fuentes, this Court agam 

examined remedy. Labeling Cory "the seminal Washington 
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case on this issue," this Court reaffirmed every defendant's 

constitutional right to confer privately with counsel and the 

presumption of prejudice following eavesdropping. Peiia 

Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 818-819. But this Court sought to settle a 

question not directly addressed in Cory: "whether all 

eavesdropping is per se prejudicial or if the presumption of 

prejudice is rebuttable." Id. at 819. 

The Peiia Fuentes Court agreed with the United States 

Supreme Court that "when an eavesdropper did not 

communicate the topic of the overheard conversations and 

thereby create 'at least a realistic possibility of injury to [the 

defendant] or benefit to the State, there can be no Sixth 

Amendment violation.'" Id. at 819 ( quoting Weatherford v. 

Bursey. 429 U.S. 545, 557-558, 97 S. Ct. 837, 51 L. Ed. 2d 30 

(1977)). But the Court made clear this situation would be 

highly unusual: 

While eavesdropping on attorney-client 
conversations is an egregious violation of a 
defendant's constitutional rights and cannot be 
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permitted, there are rare circumstances where there 
is no possibility of prejudice to the defendant. We 
do no t believe the extreme remedy of dismissing 
the charges is required when there is no possibility 
of prejudice. To account for those rare 
circumstances where there is no possibility of 
prejudice to the defendant, we hold that the 
presumption of prejudice arising from such 
eavesdropping is rebuttable. 

Id. at 819 (emphasis added). 

To ensure protection of the constitutional right to 

privately communicate with counsel, the Pefia Fuentes Court 

held the State to the highest burden of proof, squarely placing the 

burden on the State to "show beyond a reasonable doubt that the 

defendant was not prejudiced" by its intrusion into 

communications with counsel. Id. at 819-820. 

The State argued its burden should be satisfied, with the 

burden then shifting to the defendant, upon showing "the 

information is not communicated to the prosecutor." Id. at 820. 

But the Pefia Fuentes Court was unwilling to define the State's 

burden so narrowly or shift any of it to the defendant: 
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Id. 

We disagree. The State is the party that improperly 
intruded on attorney-client conversations and it must 
prove that its wrongful actions did not result in 
prejudice to the defendant. Further, the defendant is 
hardly in a position to show prejudice when only the 
State knows what was done with the information 
gleaned from the eavesdropping. The proper 
standard the trial court must apply is proof beyond a 
reasonable doubt with the burden on the State. 

As recently as August of this year, the Court of Appeals 

properly understood this Court's decisions in Cory and Pena 

Fuentes, writing: 

In Pena Fuentes, the court expanded on Cory and 
explained that only when "there is no possibility of prejudice to 
the defendant" resulting from an eavesdropping violation of a 
defendant's Sixth Amendment right is dismissal of the charges 
not "required." 179 Wn.2d at 819, 318 P.3d 257 (emphasis 
added). However, the court continued, even in those "rare 
circumstances where there is no possibility of prejudice," the 
presumption of prejudice remains unless and until the State 
proves beyond a reasonable doubt that there was no prejudice 
suffered by the defendant due to the Sixth Amendment violation. 
Id. at 819-820, 318 P.3d 257. 

State v. Myers, _ Wn. App. 2d _, 533 P.3d 451, 459, 

(2023). 
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In Irby's case, the Court of Appeals agreed "prejudice 

was not fully disproved" and "this case does not present those 

'rare circumstances' where there is 'no possibility of prejudice.' 

Peiia Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 819." Slip Op., at 18 and n.3. But 

rather than apply the mandatory remedy of dismissal, the Court of 

Appeals created a new exception where "the presumption of 

prejudice might not be fully rebutted, yet a remedy short of 

dismissal could suffice." Slip Op., at 18. 

As noted above, in Pefia Fuentes, this Court said, "when 

an eavesdropper did not communicate the topic of the 

overheard conversations and thereby create 'at least a realistic 

possibility of injury to [the defendant] or benefit to the State, 

there can be no Sixth Amendment violation. "' 179 Wn.2d at 

819 (quoting Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. at 557-558). 

Seizing on this language - and removing it from its original 

context - the Court of Appeals held the focus for violations of 

the Sixth Amendment "should be on redressing any 'realistic 

possibility' of prejudice remaining unrebutted." Slip Op., at 18. 
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The Court of Appeals then reasoned that - even in a case 

where "[t]he State's decision not to call many of the witnesses 

is significant,"3 and where "[t]he State did not rule out 

absolutely the possibility of an undisclosed, illicit channel from 

a jail guard to a detective or member of the prosecution team,"4 

- if a court convinces itself there is no "realistic possibility" of 

prejudice, there is no need to dismiss. Slip Op., at 18-22. 

As support for this new approach, the Court of Appeals 

cited United States v. Morrison, 449 U.S. 361, 101 S. Ct. 665, 66 

L. Ed. 2d 564 (1981). Slip Op., at 18-19. Morrison does indicate 

Sixth Amendment "remedies should be tailored to the injury 

suffered." Id. at 364. But the Morrison Court also said, "Our 

approach has . . .  been to identify and then neutralize the taint by 

tailo ring relief appropriate in the circumstances to assure the 

defendant the effective assistance of counsel and a fair trial." Id. 

at 365 ( emphases added). Thus, the importance of identifying all 

potential taint remains. Nothing in Morrison suggests a remedy 

3 Slip Op., at 23. 
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short of dismissal is appropriate when the State has failed to 

identify even the scope of the violations much less proved them 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt to defendant's fair trial 

rights. Unlike Irby's case, the nature and scope of the 

constitutional violations and prejudice were fully understood in 

Morrison, making a tailored approach possible. See Morrison, 

449 U.S. at 362-363. 

Morrison simply does not address the situation here, where 

the State's insufficient efforts on remand failed to fully identify 

the extent of harm to defendant's trial rights or the intentions of 

everyone involved. Nothing in Morrison or any other case cited 

by the Court of Appeals conflicts with Cory or Pefia Fuentes on 

what must happen in this circumstance. The charges must be 

dismissed. Cory, 62 Wn.2d at 377-378; Pefia Fuentes, 179 

Wn.2d 819; Myers, 533 P.3d at 459. 

Instead of dismissing the charges against Mr. Irby, 

however, the Court of Appeals approved the State's 

4 Slip Op., at 29. 
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"representative sample" approach and limited the inquiry to its 

new standard of some "realistic possibility" of unknown 

prejudice. It then found the State had satisfied that relaxed 

standard based on "the guards who testified," "investigators and 

prosecution staff who testified," and the remainder of the 

incomplete record before it, assuming the testimony of relevant 

witnesses the State failed to call would match the testimony of 

those the State chose to call. Slip Op., at 22-30 ( emphasis 

added). This is a significant departure from precedent and 

substantially weakens Sixth Amendment rights. 

As Cory and Pena Fuentes make clear, the State must 

always prove Sixth Amendment violations harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt. Where the prejudice suffered is unknown 

and unknowable, it must be assumed the State is taking 

advantage of the situation, and criminal charges must be 

dismissed. See State v. Baker, 78 Wn.2d 327, 333, 474 P.2d 

254 (1970) ("In Cory we assumed the prosecutor had taken 
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advantage . . .  because there was no way of determining exactly 

what had been overhead."). 

Because the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with 

Cory and Pefia Fuentes, and violates Irby's Sixth Amendment 

rights, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(l ). 

F. CONCLUSION 

Mr. Irby respectfully asks this Court to grant his petition 

and reverse the Court of Appeals decision in his case. 

I certify that this petition contains 4,338 words excluding 
those portions exempt under RAP 18.17. 

DATED this 6th day of December, 2023. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 

.�� /',. ){� 
DAVID B. KOCH, WSBA No. 23789 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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DIVISION ONE 

UNPUBLISHED OPIN ION 

BIRK, J. - Terrance I rby appeals convictions for first degree murder and 

first degree burglary i n  connection with a 2005 homicide. While I rby was awaiting 

trial in the Skagit County Jai l in 20 1 6, "his confidential attorney client 

communications were inappropriately opened , viewed , and time stamped by 

Skagit County jail staff members."  I rby sought dismissal due to governmental 

m isconduct under CrR 8.3(b ), but the superior court denied dismissal and I rby was 

subsequently convicted. We remanded for a new hearing on l rby's CrR 8.3 motion. 

The superior court found the State did not meet its burden to show Irby was not 

prejudiced by the interception of his attorney-cl ient communications and vacated 

l rby's conviction ,  but ruled the prejudice did not "rise to a level that requires 

dismissal , "  and ordered only a new trial . I rby was convicted again .  Irby presents 

one issue on appeal: "whether merely ordering another trial can sufficiently remedy 

these violations." We hold that ordering a new trial remedied the State's violations 

and affirm. 
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A 

The State charged I rby with murder in connection with the 2005 death of 

James Rock. I rby was convicted in 2007, but the conviction was reversed because 

a portion of jury selection occurred in his absence. State v. I rby, 1 70 Wn.2d 874, 

877, 879, 246 P.3d 796 (201 1 )  (Irby I). I rby chose not to attend his second trial in  

20 1 3, saying he could not receive a fair trial in the county. State v. I rby, 1 87 Wn.  

App. 1 83, 1 89 , 347 P.3d 1 1 03 (20 1 5) (I rby I I ). I rby was convicted and appealed . 

� We described the State's evidence as follows: 

On March 1 1 ,  2005, an officer was d ispatched to check on 
James Rock at his residence in rural Skagit County. Rock had not 
shown up for a scheduled ride provided by a transportation service 
for the elderly. Rock's body was found in his shop, a large metal 
garage-type structure set apart from his house by a breezeway. He 
had been beaten to death several days earlier with a variety of blunt 
and sharp weapons. Detectives cal led to the scene found that 
Rock's bedroom door had been forced open. Several weapons he 
kept there were missing. 

I nvestigation led to Terrance I rby, a known associate of Rock. 
Rock's neighbors had seen I rby in the neighborhood on March 8 .  
I rby was soon located in custody in Marysvi l le. He had been arrested 
there on March 8, after running a red l ight and attempting to elude 
police. In l rby's truck, officers found Rock's weapons and boots 
splashed with Rock's blood . 

Id .  at 1 88-89. We reversed l rby's second conviction because a juror had 

demonstrated bias during jury selection such that seating the juror was manifest 

constitutional error. � at 1 97. We also concluded there was insufficient evidence 

to establish aggravating circumstances justifying a charge of aggravated first 

degree murder, insufficient evidence to establish felony murder, and insufficient 
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evidence to establish a strike offense relied on to sentence I rby as a persistent 

offender. � at 202-04, 208. 

In advance of lrby's third trial in 201 6, attorney Jennifer Rancourt appeared 

on behalf of I rby. Rancourt represented I rby from March 9 ,  201 6, through to a 

hearing on Apri l 1 5, 20 1 6, when I rby filed a motion to terminate Rancourt's 

representation and proceed pro se. In a June 201 6 hearing , Irby asserted 

misconduct by jail guards, claiming they had improperly opened communications 

he had addressed to Rancourt. On Ju ly 14 ,  20 1 6, I rby filed a pro se motion to 

d ismiss all charges under CrR 8.3(b), claiming 1 2  of 1 4  "kites" intended for 

Rancourt were read and stamped by jail staff. A "kite" is a multipurpose request 

form available to inmates in the Skagit County Jai l .  State v. Irby, 3 Wn. App. 2d 

247, 255, 41 5 P.3d 6 1 1 (20 1 8) ( I rby I l l ) .  I rby argued these actions violated his 

right to counsel and right to confidential communications. 

According to l rby's 201 6 fi l ings in support of dismissal , between March 23, 

201 6 and April 4, 20 1 6, I rby sent 1 0  confidential commun ications to Rancourt. 

Nine were stamped and in itialed by county jail staff. In these communications, Irby 

expressed frustration with Rancourt about her representation , her fai lure to file the 

motions he wanted filed , and her fai lure to respond to his communications. Irby 

expressed his thoughts on one of h is former attorney's d iscovery efforts,  a juror's 

appearance at a previous sentencing hearing, a possible motive for Rock's murder, 

possible DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) cross-contamination by crime lab scientist 

Greg Frank, and concerns under Brady v. Maryland , 373 U .S .  83, 83 S .  Ct. 1 1 94, 

1 0  L. Ed. 2d 2 1 5  ( 1 963). 

3 
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The superior court denied lrby's motion to dismiss, rul ing the jail had 

violated his rights, but he had not shown prejudice. I rby I l l ,  3 Wn. App. 2d at 25 1 -

52 . I rby chose not to participate i n  his third trial i n  201 6 and was convicted. � at 

252. On appeal ,  we concluded the court erred by not imposing a presumption of 

prejud ice aris ing from the interception of l rby's attorney-cl ient communications and 

requiring the State to prove the absence of prejud ice beyond a reasonable doubt. 

� at 262-63. We remanded , directing the superior court to "marshal all of the 

evidence and determine whether the State's evidence has overcome the 

presumption of prejudice and established the absence of prejudice beyond a 

reasonable doubt." � at 263. We directed that if the State failed to meet this 

burden , the superior court would be required to fashion a remedy. � at 264. We 

directed that if the court concluded a remedy would be required short of dismissal, 

it would nevertheless be necessary to vacate the judgment. � at 264-65. This 

court issued its mandate on May 25, 201 8. 

B 

The superior court conducted an evidentiary hearing over four days in 

November and December 201 8. 1 Rancourt recal led that on at least one occasion, 

she del ivered someth ing to the jai l  for I rby but he did not receive it, which caused 

"a great deal of friction ." Rancourt estimated she received probably more than 25 

kites from Irby during her representation of h im. On April 1 5, 20 1 6, I rby accused 

Rancourt of lying to h im for two weeks because she said she did not receive the 

1 The Whatcom County Prosecutor's office represented the State at the 
evidentiary hearing. 
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kites I rby sent to her through the jai l .  l rby's subsequent counsel later reviewed 

l rby's file with Rancourt's office and reported no letters in  the file from Irby to 

Rancourt "that are the subject of this hearing." 

Sergeant Ronald Coakley testified that through his assignment with the 

Skagit County Sheriff's Office's Corrections Division,  he oversaw admin istrative 

duties , work programs, and community programs. Deputy prosecuting attorney 

Erik Pedersen sent Coakley copies of l rby's 201 6  kites in 20 1 8  for Coakley to try 

and identify the corrections deputies who initialed the kites. Coakley believed 

some of those kites had been in itialed by six d ifferent current and former deputies. 

Coakley was not able match the initials for all of the kites. 

Coakley testified l rby's kites were stamped by the jai l to track them and 

ensure they were being dealt with in a timely manner. Inmate kites, both in 201 6  

and at the time of Coakley's testimony, would not remain confidential . When 

shown exhibit 2 that was labeled " 'Attorney box, Rancourt, ' " Coakley testified the 

kites were opened because that was the way the jail staff "felt was the best way to 

deal with it, I suppose." Although kites were not treated as confidential ,  inmates 

had the option to address confidential communications to attorneys in sealed 

envelopes. I rby contended Rancourt d id not supply sufficient quantities of 

envelopes for this purpose. From among the six deputies Coakley identified as 

having initialed kites that I rby had identified , the State cal led four. Corporal Teresa 

Dorcy agreed her in itials were on exh ibit 4 ,  but did not recall reading it. Deputy 

Michael Warner testified his initials and identification number were on exhibit 2. 

Deputy Mark Rinas believed h is initials were on exhibit 1 .  Deputy David Anderson 
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recogn ized his initials on the kite marked as exhibit 8 .  None of these witnesses 

testified they read any of l rby's communications, but their testimony varied as to 

the handling of kites such that no party challenges on appeal the trial court's finding 

that "Due to the inconsistent handl ing of [l rby's] kites, his confidential attorney 

client communications were inappropriately opened , viewed , and time stamped by 

Skagit County jail staff members."  

The ja i l  guards who testified at the hearing ind icated they did not convey 

l rby's communications to either the investigative side of the sheriff's department or 

to prosecutors. Coakley testified he did not recall contacting anyone from the 

prosecutor's office or sheriff's office's investigative branch to discuss the contents 

of l rby's kites before September 201 6. Dorcy testified she did not recal l  contacting 

anyone from either the prosecutor's office or sheriff's office's investigative branch 

about l rby's case. Warner and Anderson both did not recall talking to anyone in 

20 1 6  at the sheriff's office or prosecutor's office about I rby. Rinas denied 

contacting anyone at the prosecutor's office or sheriff's office's investigative branch 

to d iscuss I rby. Another jail guard ,  Aaron McIntosh ,  testified he could not recall if 

anyone from the prosecutor's office asked him about a time when McIntosh lost or 

misplaced l rby's documents. Despite this testimony, Warner admitted there have 

been occasions when someone else collected the kite and he stamped it. And 

Rinas conceded it was possible someone else opened exhibit 1 ,  and it may have 

been sitting around until he stamped it. The testimony of these jai l  guards thus 

could not el iminate the possibi l ity that other guards could have forwarded content 

from l rby's communications. 

6 
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The State called two witnesses from the sheriff's department who were 

responsible for investigating I rby, had testified at trial previously, and wou ld go on 

to testify at the trial under review. Skagit County Detective Kay Walker testified 

she became involved in l rby's case from the initial investigation and was the lead 

detective at the time of the hearing. At some point in 201 6, Walker became aware 

jail staff intercepted lrby's communications meant for l rby's attorney. No deputy 

from the sheriff's office ever del ivered any of those communications to Walker. 

Walker d id not have an opportunity to review any of l rby's kites meant for his 

attorney. At no point in the investigation did Walker ever encounter kites Irby 

addressed to one of his own attorneys. A letter from Irby was found in the file of 

another detective, Jennifer Sheahan-Lee, but it did not have anything to do with 

l rby's attorneys. Walker testified at l rby's 20 1 3  and 201 6  trials, but Walker testified 

at the hearing that she d id not present a new theory of the case, testify about new 

information , or have new evidence in 201 6  that she did not have in 201 3. 

Detective Sergeant Sheahan-Lee worked as the lead detective on lrby's 

case from 2005 to 2008. She testified that after she left the investigation unit in  

2008, Walker took over the case. She testified that in  201 6, she was preparing to 

go back to trial and " [m]ore in a hold ing pattern ," rather than pursuing new 

investigation. l rby's case had been investigated "pretty thoroughly" before, and in 

20 1 6  they were just preparing for trial ,  unless they were advised of some new 

information that needed to be fol lowed up  on. Sheahan-Lee was told of a concern 

that jai l  staff were potentially opening some legal mail .  No one from the sheriff's 

office brought Sheahan-Lee any information that appeared to be from lrby's kites 
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to his attorneys. She did not recall having any d iscussions with any of the jail 

deputies or prosecutor's office concerning the contents of l rby's communications 

to his attorney. At l rby's 201 6 trial ,  Sheahan-Lee testified about her analysis of 

Rock's phone, information from the internet regarding what was found on Rock's 

phone, and a spreadsheet she created regarding those materials. Sheahan-Lee's 

lab submission at the 20 1 6  trial contained a l ist of items sent to the lab for 

evaluation :  keys, h iking boots, a black leather jacket, blood swabs, a DNA blood 

stain  card ,  and buccal swabs. 

By cal l ing only Walker and Sheahan-Lee, the State d id not call all of the 

sheriff's department investigators assigned to l rby's case nor all of those who 

would go on to testify at his fourth trial .  Walker testified Detectives Sheahan-Lee, 

Theresa Luvera, Ken Tiscornia,  and Deputies Johnny Rose, Craig Mul len, and 

Terry Esskew all worked on l rby's case. Walker admitted she would not know if 

someone spoke to her about the substance of l rby's confidential kites if she was 

not told the source of the information .  

Last, the State called five witnesses from the prosecuting attorney's office, 

al l of whom testified they had no knowledge of receiving l rby's confidential 

communications. Pedersen testified he took over lrby's prosecution following 

l rby's first appeal. Pedersen first became aware that corrections deputies had 

intercepted some communications that Irby had written to h is attorney in Ju ly 201 6  

after I rby served plead ings concerning those interceptions. Before Pedersen saw 

those pleadings, nobody from the jail had contacted him to tel l  him about l rby's 

kites. When Pedersen received the pleadings, Pedersen testified , he read only 

8 
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the first page, which said John Oslund, l rby's former attorney, went to Moses Lake. 

Pedersen stopped reading and made copies for an upcoming hearing because he 

noticed I rby had not filed the pleadings with the court. Before lrby's 20 1 6  trial , 

Pedersen did not choose to read any of the contents of what I rby submitted. The 

trial court asked Pedersen if the contents of one of lrby's communications to 

Rancourt, exhibit 1 3, would change his strategy if he were to retry the case, to 

wh ich Pedersen replied "no." Pedersen first read l rby's communications meant for 

his attorney at least six months after l rby's 201 6  trial .  Pedersen followed up with 

McIntosh about one of l rby's lost documents ,  but they were not able to find it. 

Pedersen did not bel ieve anybody from his office had copies of lrby's kites 

submitted as p leadings. Pedersen did not bel ieve the presentation of the DNA 

evidence, or any other evidence, changed between the 201 3  and 201 6 trials. 

I rby argued the State failed to produce "new evidence obtained in May 201 6  

and June 201 6" that an analysis of two crime lab analysts, Frank and Brian 

Smelser, found "gross d iscrepancies and gross cross-contamination during DNA 

testing procedures," and " [t]he affected testing was conducted during the same 

timeframe" as the evidence tested in l rby's case. I rby claimed the State's 

unwil l ingness to produce this information despite requests from Irby to the State, 

the crime lab, and the prosecutor's office constituted a Brady violation, presumably 

because of its potential impeachment value against Frank. I rby sought to establish 

that evidence of testing errors by Frank emerged after I rby mentioned them in a 

communication to Rancourt dated March 23, 201 6  and before the hearing on his 

motion to dismiss in August 201 6 ,  implying the State had become alerted to his 
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strategy by intercepting his attorney-cl ient communications. Other information 

d iscredited this theory. I rby fi led h is  motion to proceed pro se on March 30 ,  201 6 ,  

and he  referred in this publ ic fi l ing to evidence of testing errors by Frank. Pedersen 

testified he had long since heard about and was aware of l rby's opinions on Frank. 

Without agreeing any of the information concerning Frank's testing was Brady 

material ,  Pedersen testified I rby made a public d isclosure request to Frank and 

Frank provided responsive information to Pedersen as well as to Irby. Pedersen 

testified he gave I rby information that would have al lowed I rby to address DNA 

cross-contamination. Pedersen testified he did not have any information 

impugning the DNA testing process, and nothing indicated contamination of the 

DNA tests in lrby's case. Walker denied being aware there was any Brady material 

on DNA analyst Frank for the 201 6  trial , and Sheahan-Lee d id not know about 

Brady material on Frank. 

I rby also challenged Pedersen on his fai lure to offer in evidence a piece of 

physical evidence from the crime scene. A card found at the crime scene 

contained a mixture of two individuals, one of whom was Rock, and I rby was 

excluded as a possibi l ity for the second individual . Pedersen did not offer this card 

in  l rby's second or third trial , because the State had "no explanation of how the 

item got on the sample, the DNA got on the sample." 

Rosemary Kaholokula was Skagit County's ch ief criminal deputy prosecutor 

in April 20 1 6. Kaholokula supervised Pedersen while Pedersen worked on l rby's 

case. Pedersen told Kaholokula about the issue with the jail staff, but Kaholokula 

did not bel ieve she had ever reviewed the kites I rby had written to his attorney. 

1 0  
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Mary Ryan was a Skagit County deputy prosecutor in March and April 201 6  who 

second chaired l rby's third trial alongside Pedersen .  Ryan did not receive or 

review any copies of kites I rby had written to his attorney. Neither Pedersen nor 

any sheriff's deputies spoke with Ryan about the subject matters of lrby's kites. 

When asked whether there was any new evidence presented in the 201 6  retria l  

that had not been presented previously, Ryan testified, "No. Not to my knowledge." 

The State cal led prosecutor's office legal assistants Karen Wal lace and 

Judy Ross. Wal lace's responsibi l ities included giving Pedersen any incoming 

documents received and generating pleadings for him. Wal lace did not recall the 

county jail sending any kites from Irby to his attorney, and those kites would have 

come through her if Pedersen received them. Wal lace agreed that Pedersen did 

some of his own fi l ing,  and if he did she would not see those documents or know 

of them unless he told her about them. Ross recalled taking documents Pedersen 

produced to the jai l  to have them stamped in and to bring the stamped copy back. 

In that timeframe, Ross d id not recall receiving any information from the jail that 

related to I rby. 

The superior cou rt found the jail had no consistent pol icy on how inmate 

kites were handled during l rby's incarceration there in 201 6, that lack of policy led 

to l rby's confidential attorney client communications being inappropriately opened , 

viewed, and time stamped by jai l  staff, and it was unclear whether l rby's kites 

containing these confidential communications were del ivered to his attorney. The 

court found these actions by the jail staff destroyed l rby's relationship with his 

attorney. But the court made further findings that I rby now challenges, to the effect 
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that the jai l 's interception of l rby's attorney-cl ient communications did not result in 

information being shared with the prosecution : 

7.  The Skagit County Jai l  did not intentionally confiscate kites, 
read kites, or pass on information contained in kites with in the 
jai l ,  or to the investigative side of the Sheriff's Office, or to the 
Prosecutor's Office. 

8 .  The Skagit County Jai l d id  not provide any information 
contained within the Defendant's confidential attorney client 
kites to any person at the Skagit County Prosecutor's Office. 

9 .  The Skagit County Jai l  d id not provide any information 
contained within the Defendant's confidential attorney client 
kites to any of the investigators assigned to the Defendant's 
case by the Skagit County Sheriff's Office. 

The court did not dismiss the charges. Instead ,  the court ordered a new 

trial based on the following conclusions of law that I rby challenges on appeal: 

1 .  The governmental misconduct of opening, stamping, and 
viewing the Defendant's confidential attorney client kites did 
not produce any evidence that was used in Defendant's trial 
in September of 201 6.  

2.  The governmental misconduct of open ing, stamping, and 
viewing the Defendant's confidential attorney client kites was 
not used to assist the government in thwarting the 
Defendant's trial strategies in September of 20 1 6. 

4 .  The governmental misconduct of opening, stamping, and 
viewing the Defendant's confidential attorney client kites did 
not g ive the State an unfair advantage at trial in September of 
20 1 6. 

5. The State has not overcome its burden regarding the 
Defendant's loss of confidence in his attorney, See conclusion 
of law No. 3, but this prejudice does not rise to a level that 
requires dismissal ;  vacation of the previous judgements and 
a new trial is a sufficient remedy to purge the taint presented 
by the government's misconduct. 
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The court vacated l rby's convictions and ordered a new trial after considering "the  

total ity of the circumstances,"  because "the destruction of Defendant's confidence 

in h is attorney prevented the Defendant from having the assistance of an attorney 

at trial ." 

I n  its oral ru l ing, the court addressed l rby's argument that the State could 

not disprove prejudice because at the evidentiary hearing it d id not call al l of the 

detectives who participated in gathering evidence supporting the charges and who 

were witnesses against I rby. The court acknowledged the State failed to call some 

witnesses who testified at trial and may have been exposed to l rby's confidential 

communications, but would "be happy to conduct pretrial testimonial hearings" at 

the new trial to ask those witnesses about their knowledge before they would be 

al lowed to testify.2 

I I  

l rby's fourth trial was held in 2021 . I rby represented himself and waived his 

presence at trial .  Among the 20 witnesses called at trial ,  four were Skagit County 

law enforcement officers whom the State did not present at the evidentiary hearing. 

These witnesses were Mul len,  retired Chief Deputy Will Reicherdt, Esskew, and 

Tiscornia. Neither the State nor I rby (who was not participating) sought to examine 

any witnesses before they testified as the court had offered at the evidentiary 

hearing. 

2 The superior court also ruled it would not disqualify the Skagit County 
prosecutor's office or sheriff's office personnel from participating in lrby's retrial . 
I rby does not challenge these rul ings on appeal. 
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Mullen testified that while on patrol duty on March 1 1 ,  2005, he responded 

to a welfare check cal l  for Rock. Mu llen approached the residence, received no 

answer after knocking on the door, and received no answer after walking around 

the residence and looking into and knocking on the windows. He observed a 

detached garage fairly close to the residence. Mullen entered the garage and 

found Rock's body. Mul len contacted his sergeant, who d irected him to take 

photographs of everything and check the residence while detectives and other 

deputies were en route. Mullen swept the house and began taking photographs. 

These photographs were admitted and publ ished to the jury. Law enforcement 

personnel began arriving, including Tiscornia. The officers were not able to locate 

any firearm at the scene, and Mu llen returned the next day to ass ist in the search 

for a possible murder weapon, which also proved unsuccessful .  

Reicherdt testified he received a phone call from Tiscornia who asked 

Reicherdt to respond to a possible homicide crime scene. Reicherdt responded to 

the scene and after observing Rock's body in the garage, called Daniel Selove, 

MD to examine the body. Dr. Selove's observations of Rock's multiple blunt force 

trauma wounds to the head led Reicherdt to begin a homicide investigation. 

Rock's body was removed from the garage,  and the crime scene was secured 

overnight. The following morning,  Rock's body was scheduled for an autopsy and 

the investigation began . Reicherdt met with five detectives, including Tiscornia 

and Esskew, to delegate duties to the detectives. Reicherdt assigned Tiscornia to 

attend the autopsy with Dr. Selove and assigned Esskew to assist collecting and 

processing evidence at the scene. Reicherdt testified the group looked at both the 
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garage and residence "pretty thoroughly." Reicherdt drove a van with the collected 

evidence back to the sheriff's office, where it was unloaded and secured in the 

evidence room. The investigation team developed a suspect and Tiscornia 

obtained search warrants . Reicherdt assigned Sheahan-Lee to serve as the 

case's primary investigator. Over the next several weeks, Reicherdt and Sheahan­

Lee spoke daily about the case. 

Esskew testified his primary duty at the scene was to document the area, 

scene, residence,  and outbui ld ings with a camera.  Esskew described several 

photographs he took of the residence ,  which were admitted into evidence. He 

assisted two other detectives in documenting the area inside and around the 

garage, which included taking more photographs. Esskew testified he wore 

protective gloves and foot coverings while documenting and col lecting evidence 

so as not to contaminate the scene. 

Tiscornia testified that when he arrived at the scene, only Mullen and 

another sheriff's deputy were present. Using a flashl ight and protective gear, 

Tiscornia began investigating the inside of the garage. He took several pictures 

as he worked his way through  the garage's interior and observed several stains 

consistent with blood . When he reached Rock's body, Tiscornia noticed a large 

pool of blood under Rock's head. After Dr. Selove arrived at the scene and 

observed Rock's body, he informed Tiscornia that Rock sustained significant back, 

left-side, blunt force trauma from multiple blows. Rock had a deep slash wound 

near his jugular vein on the right side and a gaping wound that was the source of 

the majority of the blood . Rock's body was taken for the coroner to conduct an 
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autopsy, which Tiscornia attended . During the autopsy, Tiscornia col lected trace 

evidence,  assisted the doctor with scraping and cl ipping Rock's fingernails, looked 

for foreign substances on Rock's body and clothes, and collected the contents of 

Rock's pockets. After the autopsy, Tiscornia collected the clothing,  contents of 

Rock's pockets, and other items before bagging them and transporting them to the 

sheriff's office. Tiscornia returned to the scene to assist the other investigators 

and document the several stains he observed when he first entered the garage. 

Tiscornia testified about the distance of the blood spatters on the garage's interior 

walls to Rock's body. Following l rby's arrest by the Marysvil le Pol ice Department, 

officers seized several items from lrby's vehicle including firearms. Tiscornia 

retrieved those firearms from the Marysvi l le Police Department. Tiscornia 

participated in the search of l rby's vehicle. He was present for the veh icle's initial 

open ing, moved some items around the inside of the veh icle, and prepared the 

vehicle for examination by the crime laboratory by removing some personal 

property. 

The State called 1 6  other witnesses, and the trial court admitted dozens of 

the State's exhibits into evidence .  A jury found I rby gui lty of first degree murder 

and first degree burglary. 

1 1 1  

I rby argues the superior court abused its discretion by ordering a new trial 

instead of dismissing the charges against h im. We disagree. 

Under CrR 8.3(b), the court, "in the furtherance of justice, after notice and 

hearing,  may dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or 
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governmental misconduct when there has been prejud ice to the rights of the 

accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial ." Governmental 

m isconduct need not be evil or dishonest in nature; simple mismanagement is 

sufficient. State v. Blackwel l ,  1 20 Wn.2d 822, 831 , 845 P.2d 1 0 1 7  (1 993). 

Dismissal is an extraordinary remedy to which the court should resort only in " 'truly 

egregious cases of mismanagement or misconduct. ' " State v. Wilson , 1 49 Wn.2d 

1 ,  9 ,  65 P.3d 657 (2003) (quoting State v. Duggins, 68 Wn. App. 396, 401 ,  844 

P.2d 441 ,  aff'd ,  1 2 1  Wn.2d 524, 852 P.2d 294 ( 1 993)). However, dismissal is a 

remedy that should be thoroughly and meaningfully considered , along with other 

options available to the court. State v. Myers ,  _ Wn. App. 2d _, 533 P .3d 451 , 

464 (2023).  A trial court's decision on a motion to dismiss is reviewed for abuse 

of d iscretion. State v. Brooks, 1 49 Wn. App. 373, 384, 203 P.3d 397 (2009). A 

trial court abuses its d iscretion when its decision is man ifestly unreasonable, when 

it exercises its decision on untenable grounds, or when it makes its decision for 

untenable reasons. Id .  

A 

Our remand directed that, if the trial court found a violation because the 

State failed to rebut the presumption of prejudice, then it must fashion a remedy 

based on consideration of "the total ity of the circumstances." I rby 1 1 1 ,  3 Wn. App. 

2d at 264. We explained , "CrR 8.3(b)  grants the trial court d iscretion to 'fashion 

an appropriate remedy, recogn izing that dismissal is an extraordinary remedy, 

appropriate only when other, less severe sanctions will be ineffective. '  " Id. 

(quoting State v. Garza , 99 Wn. App. 291 , 301 -02, 994 P.2d 868 (2000)). 
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I n  State v. Pena Fuentes, the court held that the presumption of prejudice 

from eavesdropping may be rebutted . 1 79 Wn.2d 808, 8 1 9, 31 8 P.3d 257 (201 4) .  

The court explained i t  did not bel ieve dismissal is required if  there is "no possibil ity 

of prejudice." � The court cited Un ited States Supreme Court precedent to 

explain that if the government's misconduct does not "create 'at least a realistic 

possibil ity of injury to [the defendant] or benefit to the State , ' " then " 'there can be 

no Sixth Amendment violation . '  " � at 8 1 9  (alteration in original) (quoting 

Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U .S .  545, 557-58, 97 S. Ct. 837, 5 1  L. Ed . 2d 30 

( 1 977)). Pena Fuentes d id not address the situation that .![Qy I l l  anticipated, that 

the presumption of prejud ice might not be fully rebutted , yet a remedy short of 

dismissal could suffice. 3 Here,  prejudice was not fu l ly disproved. Case law 

nevertheless contemplates that courts will assess the nature of the prejudice in 

fashioning a remedy. Where a conclusion of prejudice flows from the State's 

fai lure to rebut the presumption that it occurred , the focus should be on redressing 

any " 'real istic possibi l ity' " of prejudice remaining unrebutted. � at 8 1 9  (quoting 

Weatherford , 429 U.S.  at 557-58). 

Un ited States v. Morrison observed that the court had never assumed that 

dismissal was the only appropriate remedy for a violation of the Sixth Amendment 

right to counsel. 449 U.S.  361 , 364 ,  1 0 1 S. Ct. 665, 66 L. Ed. 2d 564 ( 1 981 ). The 

3 I n  l ight of the superior court's finding that because of the State's violations 
I rby was prejudiced , which neither party questions on appeal , this case does not 
present those "rare circumstances" where there is "no possibil ity of prejudice." 
Pena Fuentes , 1 79 Wn.2d at 8 1 9. Cf. I rby I l l ,  3 Wn. App. 2d at 253 n .3  ( in cases 
where "no prejudice to the defendant arose from the infringement, a defendant has 
not been deprived of a Sixth Amendment right and no remedy need be applied."). 
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cou rt acknowledged, "without detracting from the fundamental importance of the 

right to counsel in criminal cases, we have impl icitly recogn ized the necessity for 

preserving society's interest in the administration of criminal justice." kl The court 

held , "Cases involving Sixth Amendment deprivations are subject to the general 

rule that remedies should be tailored to the injury suffered from the constitutional 

violation and should not unnecessarily infringe on competing interests." kl (citing 

Gideon v .  Wainwright, 372 U.S.  335, 344, 83 S.  Ct. 792 ,  9 L. Ed. 2d 799 ( 1 963) 

(ordering a new trial)). 

Morrison noted eavesdropping cases in which " law enforcement officers 

improperly overheard pretrial conversations between a defendant and his lawyer," 

for which the remedy ordered was a new trial. lg,_ at 364-65. Morrison cited Black 

v. Un ited States, 385 U .S.  26, 27, 87 S .  Ct. 1 90 ,  1 7  L .  Ed. 2d 26 (1 966), in which 

the government admitted that through the use of a l istening device placed in the 

defendant's hotel room in a separate investigation, government agents overheard 

" 'exchanges between petitioner and the attorney who was then representing him 

(Black)' in this case." The government further admitted that "reports and 

memoranda of the intercepted conversations were examined by the Tax Division 

attorneys and retained by them until April 1 5, 1 964, when petitioner's trial began. "  

� at 28 .  The court ordered "a new trial" so as to "afford the petitioner an 

opportunity to protect himself from the use of evidence that might be otherwise 

inadmissible." kl at 28-29. 

Washington decisions are consistent with these hold ings. In  State v. Cory, 

62 Wn.2d 371 , 382 P.2d 1 0 1 9  ( 1 963), there was both a high degree of 
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nefariousness and significant risk of prejudice. State actors had purposefully 

targeted the defendant's consu ltations with counsel. The jail provided a room "for 

consultations between prisoners and their attorneys." 62 Wn.2d at 372.  State 

actors instal led a l istening device in the same room, l istened to the defendant's 

consultations with counsel , and made recordings of the conversations. � The 

conversations occurred while the defendant, unable to post bail ,  " remained in the 

county jail from the time of his arrest throughout the trial and thereafter." � That 

the government's design was to l isten to consultations with counsel informs the 

court's observation that there was "no way to isolate the prejudice resulting from 

an eavesdropping activity, such as th is," id. at 377, as wel l  as its decision to 

assume information was transmitted to the prosecutor, id. at 377 n .3. The 

Supreme Court ordered dismissal based on this "shocking and unpardonable 

conduct." � at 378 . A new trial is not an adequate remedy when it would permit 

the government to benefit from its misconduct. See id. at 377. State v. Granacki 

involved similarly intentional misconduct. 90 Wn. App. 598, 601 ,  959 P.2d 667 

( 1 998). During a recess in trial ,  a detective looked at defense counsel's legal pad , 

wh ich contained privileged communications and trial strategies. � at 600. We 

held it was not an abuse of d iscretion for the trial court to dismiss the charges. � 

at 604. While the detective did not communicate what he saw to the prosecutor, 

the information he read may have affected h is testimony. � 

While Cory and Granacki involved intentional eavesdropping, other 

Washington decisions have, l ike Black, involved the government encountering 

attorney-cl ient communications while attempting to investigate another aspect of 
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the same matter or a different matter concerning the defendant. In  Pena Fuentes ,  

after the defendant had been convicted and with a motion for a new trial pend ing,  

the defendant filed evidence that a witness had recanted trial testimony. 1 79 

Wn.2d at 8 1 5-1 6 .  The prosecutor asked a detective to l isten to the defendant's jai l 

phone calls to investigate potential witness tampering, and the detective did so, 

l istening to six conversations Pena Fuentes had with defense counsel. kl at 81 6 .  

On learning the detective had l istened to these calls , the prosecutor disclosed the 

breach and took steps to sequester the improperly learned information .  kl at 81 7. 

I n  Myers, desirous of obtaining handwriting samples to impl icate the defendant, 

detectives requested jail guards search the defendant's cell and seize handwritten 

materials, many of which proved to be attorney-client communications. 533 P.3d 

at 455. And in Garza , in an effort to investigate a possible escape attempt, "jail 

officers seized , examined, and perhaps even read the defendants' legal materials 

(including private attorney-cl ient communications)." 99 Wn. App. at 293, 296. 

Pena Fuentes, Myers, and Garza involved intentional review by the State of the 

defendants' attorney-cl ient communications, but none involved , l ike Cory, 

misconduct designed to accomplish that particularly. 

These decisions remanded for the trial courts to apply the correct standard 

to determine whether the presumption of prejudice was rebutted. Pena Fuentes, 

1 79 Wn.2d at 822 ; Myers, 533 P.3d at 465 ; Garza, 99 Wn. App. at 301 . But none 

ordered dismissal as Cory did ,  and none were cases in which the tria l  court had 

determined dismissal was justified, as in Granacki. Myers explained the inquiry 

goes "beyond whether the [prosecutor] reviewed the privi leged material ," and 
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extends to "the broader impact of the government intrusion into a protected 

relationship, how that constitutional violation may have deprived [the defendant] of 

. . .  a fair trial ,  and how to disincentivize such governmental violations going 

forward." 533 P.3d at 465. This frames our inquiry: we must determine whether 

the trial court had a tenable basis to conclude its remedy would redress the realistic 

possibil ities of prejudice to l rby's rights remaining unrebutted by the State after the 

evidentiary hearing, and adequately disincentivize similar violations in the future. 

B 

I rby argues the evidence at the hearing did not support that jai l staff did not 

intentionally intercept l rby's communications and convey their content to the 

investigating detectives and prosecuting attorneys , as a result of which, Irby says, 

findings of fact 7, 8, and 9 are unsupported by substantial evidence .  I rby notes the 

State called only six out of 41 jai l  guards who worked shifts during the period in 

which I rby submitted the kites known to be opened . Likewise, he says, the State 

did not call investigating detectives at the hearing despite cal l ing them as 

witnesses later at trial and d id not call al l the prosecutorial staff at the hearing who 

participated in trial .  As a result, I rby reasons, it is impossible to know the intent of 

many jail guards who were in a position to open and read some of his kites, and 

impossible to know whether a jai l  guard who did not testify at the hearing could 

have conveyed information to a detective who did not testify at the hearing but then 

testified at trial .  Because "significant unanswered questions" remained, Irby 

argues, the trial court's relief was inadequate. 
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The State's decision not to call many of the witnesses is significant. I n  

I rby I l l ,  we held the declaration of Pedersen on which the State then relied was 

insufficient to "el iminate the possibil ity that l rby's right to a fair trial was prejudiced ," 

because it  did not "identify whether there were any other investigators . . .  who 

might have communicated with the jai l  guards and gleaned privileged attorney­

client information from the jail guards' misconduct." 3 Wn. App. 2d at 261 -62 . We 

explained the significance of the omission :  

Indeed , i f  other investigators participated in l rby's prosecution, the 
State's declaration does not address whether those investigators 
had, unbeknown to the lead detective and prosecutor, obtained 
information derived from the jail deputies' m isconduct, used that 
information in their investigation of I rby, and/or forwarded those 
investigative materials to the lead detective or to the prosecutors . 

kl We observed the same problem had been present in Pena Fuentes, in  which 

the State's evidence "did not address the possibil ity that the prosecutor had 

wittingly pursued the case in rel iance on information obtained by the lead detective 

'as part of an investigation aided by the eavesdropping . '  " ![QY I l l ,  3 Wn. App. 2d 

at 260 (quoting Pena Fuentes, 1 79 Wn.2d at 822). On remand here, the State 

chose sti l l  not to call several investigators to testify at the hearing. 

We nevertheless conclude the evidence was sufficient to support the trial 

court's findings because it el iminated any " 'realistic possibil ity' " of prejudice to 

l rby's rights other than to the extent the trial court found . Pena Fuentes, 1 79 Wn.2d 

at 8 1 9  (quoting Weatherford , 429 U .S .  at 557-58). We review findings of fact for 

substantial evidence. State v. Hatt, 1 1  Wn. App. 2d 1 1 3 , 1 27, 452 P .3d 577 (20 1 9). 

" 'Substantial evidence exists where there is a sufficient quantity of evidence in the 
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record to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding. '  " State 

v. Delbosque, 1 95 Wn.2d 1 06 ,  1 1 6 ,  456 P .3d 806 (2020) ( quoting State v. Hil l ,  1 23 

Wn.2d 641 , 644, 870 P.2d 3 1 3  ( 1 994)). Circumstantial evidence and direct 

evidence are equally rel iable. State v. Cardenas-Flores, 1 89 Wn.2d 243, 266, 401 

P.3d 1 9  (201 7) .  A trial court making findings in a criminal case is entitled to rely 

on reasonable inferences from the evidence. See State v. Bennett, 6 Wn.2d 208 ,  

2 1 2 ,  1 07 P.2d 344 ( 1 940) ("A criminal case, l ike any other, may be proved by 

circumstantial evidence,  and reasonable inferences have the same probative 

effect as direct testimony.") ;  State v. Trasvina,  1 6  Wn. App. 5 1 9 ,  525, 557 P.2d 

368 ( 1 976) (sufficiency of the evidence to support conviction). Our conclusion 

fol lows from the evidence the State presented and the reasonable inferences it 

supported. 

Regarding lack of intent by the jai l  staff, the guards who testified supported 

the trial court's findings that the jai l  handled l rby's communications carelessly, but 

their testimony did not show a design to read attorney-cl ient communications. 

Their testimony conceded that kites were opened , because they did not view them 

as confidentia l .  At the same time, their testimony did not ind icate interest in the 

content of the kites beyond directing them to their intended recipient. Further 

supporting the lack of intentional review of attorney-client communications was the 

testimony of the guards that they did not convey any communications to the 

investigating officers or prosecuting attorneys. 

The same testimony provided some support for the findings that other jail 

staff who d id not testify at the evidentiary hearing did not convey information to the 

24 



No. 830 1 8-0-1/25 

investigative side of the sheriff's office or to the prosecutor's office. The guards' 

testimony showed that as a matter of routine those guards opened and observed 

the face of l rby's communications, but those guards' routines did not extend to any 

of them reading or remembering any communications. This supports the inference 

that there was not a plan at the jail to intercept private communications, and that 

there l ikewise was not a scheme to convey information from the jai l  kites to 

detectives or the prosecuting attorneys. This is the opposite of Cory, in wh ich the 

jail guards' purposeful efforts to overhear attorney-client consultations suggested 

the intent to use the information they had worked methodically to obta in .  

The investigators and prosecution staff who testified also provided some 

support for the trial court's find ings that no information was conveyed. Those who 

testified indicated they had no knowledge of receiving any of l rby's confidential 

information. This supports an inference that the prosecution did not benefit from 

any such information at l rby's fourth trial .  Those primarily responsible for 

presenting the case against I rby would be famil iar with the extent of the available 

evidence and its sources. They would understand the main reasons why the 

evidence showed Irby was gu ilty and the provenance of that evidence. If 

significant aspects of their proof had derived from lrby's communications to 

Rancourt in 20 1 6, they would have some inkl ing that an aspect of their case had 

newly emerged more than a decade after the homicide. They expressed none. 

The tim ing of the investigation supports the trial court's findings. The 

detectives testified at the evidentiary hearing that they were not developing new 

evidence against I rby in 201 6  and their intentions for trying the case for the third 
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time followed the same general outl ine they had presented at lrby's first and 

second trials, based on the evidence they had developed in the original 

investigation,  years before I rby addressed the communications at issue to 

Rancourt. The homicide occurred in 2005, and detectives investigated and 

compiled the evidence against Irby primarily then . Because of two, unrelated 

remands from appellate decisions in subsequent years ,  it was 1 1  years later, in 

20 1 6 , that I rby claims an intercept of his communications occurred with a then 

newly appointed attorney. This distinguishes Cory. Where state actors had 

purposefully intercepted attorney-client communications as part of their 

investigation,  it was impossible to " isolate" the tainted information from legitimate 

investigation .  62 Wn.2d at 377. Here, because the State developed its case 

against I rby and tried h im twice years before any intercept occurred, the State's 

underlying investigation can be isolated from any new discoveries that cou ld have 

come from l rby's 201 6  communications with Rancourt. And contrary to l rby's 

argument that the first two remands created an incentive for the State to discover 

l rby's confidential plans for the third tria l ,  nothing about those reversals due to 

errors in jury selection impl ied doubt about the evidence of l rby's guilt for the 

murder and robbery charges pend ing in 201 6.  

The trial court also was entitled to consider the content of the opened kites 

that I rby voluntari ly fi led with the court. These kites mostly concerned l rby's 

frustrations with Rancourt, Pedersen , and the trial court. Where he wrote about 

the merits of his case, I rby focused on Tiscornia's alleged health problem, al leged 

malfeasance in tampering with or contaminating evidence by Washington State 
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Patrol employee David Northrup,  Rock's safe and its contents as a possible motive 

for h is murder, a possible defense to l rby's burglary charge, blood spots found by 

the garage's main door, Rock's al leged fear of his daughter and her boyfriends, 

Frank's report, credibi l ity, and al leged cross-contamination of evidence,  and 

concerns that detectives may have destroyed "rifle evidence" Irby bought from 

Rock. 

I rby outlines five theoretical ways in wh ich he says the State might have 

benefitted from this information . He theorizes the State could have taken 

countermeasures against his plan to enl ist the press in aid of his defense. He 

argues his communications d isclosed case law describing successful chal lenges 

to DNA evidence. He argues that the State could have taken extra steps to ensure 

Tiscornia's presence at trial because I rby expressed interest in his possible 

absence due to retirement. He argues the State cou ld have contacted witnesses 

he identified . And he argues his alert to the presence of a mixture of Rock's and 

an unknown contributor's DNA on a card at the crime scene could have caused 

prosecutors to refrain  from admitting this ambiguous evidence. 

But none of these are real istic possibi l ities of prejud ice to the fairness of 

l rby's fourth trial .  I rby never explains how press coverage might influence a jury's 

assessment of the evidence amassed in 2005. The prosecution already had 

general knowledge of how DNA evidence might be challenged and that Tiscornia 

had retired. It is not realistic that the State could have preempted lrby's access to 

witnesses on whom I rby was focused but the State was not when I rby had multiple 

lawyers and investigators with an 1 1 -year head start before his knowledge of these 

27 



No. 8301 8-0-1/28 

witnesses was allegedly intercepted . lrby's argument overlooks that Pedersen 

testified he did not offer the card from the crime scene with the ambiguous DNA 

sample even at the second trial ,  three years before I rby asserts his 

communications were intercepted. With a new trial ,  l rby's opportun ity was 

preserved to offer the card in evidence if he bel ieved it was exculpatory, and to 

attempt to impeach D NA analyst Frank. 

Final ly, the testimony of the law enforcement witnesses at l rby's fourth trial 

focused on the evidence developed in the original 2005 investigation . This is true 

of the four law enforcement witnesses the State cal led at the fourth trial but not at 

the evidentiary hearing. Mullen , Reicherdt, Esskew and Tiscornia emphasized 

investigation and evidence they gathered in 2005. The focus of these witnesses' 

testimony on the 2005 investigation establ ishes the efficacy of permitting the 

parties at trial to voir dire them before they testified , to assure they had not gained 

any information from l rby's 201 6  communications with Rancourt. I rby argues this 

offer was intended as an offer to the State to buttress its hearing evidence. The 

offer responded to l rby's argument and was not restricted to any party. This 

opportunity, had it been invoked, would have permitted discovery of any theoretical 

informational channel I rby hypothesizes could exist, and would have permitted the 

trial court to exclude any witness who had learned i l l icit information. While case 

law recogn izes a witness may be aided by learning the defense strategy, Granacki, 

90 Wn. App. at 604, here the relevant witnesses' testimony was focused on the 

2005 investigation , unrelated to l rby's 201 6  communications with Rancourt. 
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The State did not rule out absolutely the possibil ity of an undisclosed , i l l icit 

channel from a jai l  guard to a detective or member of the prosecution team. But 

this possibil ity must be evaluated in l ight of the evidence the jail was generally 

merely carelessly handl ing the kites, the lead detectives and prosecutors were 

unaware of any new discoveries in 20 1 6 , they relied on the evidence they had 

gathered 1 1  years earl ier and presented at earl ier trials, to the extent of l rby's 

d isclosure of what was allegedly breached nothing could have significantly aided 

the prosecution or undermined the defense, and no subsequent trial testimony 

suggests otherwise . Findings of fact 7 ,  8 ,  and 9 are supported by substantial 

evidence, and the State met its burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

I rby was not prejudiced by the jai l  guards' interception of his communications 

except only insofar as their misconduct destroyed his relationsh ip with h is attorney. 

What remains is whether the trial court acted within its discretion in 

concluding a new trial would adequately address this prejud ice and d isincentivize 

future violations. We review de novo whether the trial court's conclusions of law 

are supported by its findings of fact. State v. Manion , 1 73 Wn. App. 6 1 0, 633, 295 

P.3d 270 (20 1 3). Given that the only prejudice left unrebutted was the loss of l rby's 

attorney-cl ient relationship, conclusions of law 1 ,  2, 4, and 5 are supported by the 

trial court's findings. We previously held the superior court's consideration of the 

total ity of the circumstances should include evaluating both "the degree of 

prejud ice" to l rby's right to a fair trial and "the degree of nefariousness" by the state 

actors. I rby I l l ,  3 Wn. App. 2d at 264. This is an egregious case of misconduct. 

The laxity of the jai l  shown here is indefensible under our constitutional principles. 
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Dismissal was appropriately considered, see Wilson,  1 49 Wn.2d at 9, and was 

actually considered , see Myers, 533 P.3d at 464. So too, however, was a more 

tailored remedy. See Morrison, 449 U .S. at 364. Cory held the State would not 

be disincentivized from gathering information to which it had no right if it only had 

to re-try the case, sti l l  benefiting from the il l icitly gathered information. 62 Wn.2d 

at 377. But in the absence of the State's benefiting from information it should not 

have, the State is disincentivized from undermining a defendant's right to counsel 

if the court requires the State to re-try the case with new counsel. In  ordering a 

new trial ,  with a new lawyer, the trial court gave Irby a full opportun ity to be 

represented by counsel with whom he could be confident of confidential 

communications. This remedy accorded I rby his Sixth Amendment rights and was 

not an abuse of discretion. 

Affirmed . 

WE CONCUR: 
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